MAR 2 4 2014 

Supreme Court No. C\D\ l.\ 0 -La 
Court of Appeals No. 69220-8-I 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF 
WASHINGTON 
DIVISION ONE 

THE FERGUSON FIRM, PLLC, 
Respondent, 

v. 
TELLER AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC, 

Defendant, 
and 

Brian J. Waid, Appellant Attorney Lien Claimant 

ON APPEAL FROM THE KING COUNTY SUPERIOR 
COURT 

The Honorable Marianne Spearman, Judge 

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW 

(F U IL fE lO) 
APR 1 l 2014 

ClERK.pFTHE SUPREME COURT 
E ST11TEOFWASHJNGTON ~ 

JOHN R. MUENSTER 
Attorney at Law, WSBA No. 6237 

14940 Sunrise Drive N.E. 
Bainbridge Island, W A 98110 

Telephone: (206)467 -7500 
jrmuenster@muensterkoenig.com 

Attorneys for Respondent

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the attorney lien statute, RCW 60.40.010, 

prohibit an attorney from using an "attorney's lien" to take 

money from a client which the attorney did not earn as 

proceeds for the client? 

2. Should the attorney lien statute be strictly 

construed in favor of clients and consumers, as in prior 

Washington decisions, or should it be broadly construed to 

favor an attorney filing a lien on funds he did not earn for his 

client, as Division One did here? 

3. Does the term "proceeds" in RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) 

and (5) refer only to a monetary sum received from the same 

action that the attorney actually represented the client in, rather 

than to other funds the client earned herself in a prior matter 

where the attorney did not represent her? 

4. Is an order setting aside an "attorney's lien" 

(because it does not fit under the lien statute) appealable as of 

t;ight under RAP 2.2(a)(3), where the order is procedural and 
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does not "prevent a fmal judgment" or "discontinue the 

action"? 

5. Is an order denying a motion to stay disbursement 

of funds due to mootness nonetheless appealable as of right 

under RAP 2.2(a)(3), even though: (a) the funds had already 

been disbursed, (b) no "action" was determined, and (c) the 

motion to stay was untimely filed? 

6. ·Should the Superior Court's orders be affirmed 

because the attorney who filed the "lien" does not challenge the 

disbursement on appeal? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

(1) "Sandra Ferguson, the principal of The Ferguson 

Firm, PLLC, spent substantial time and effort developing an 

employment discrimination case without the assistance of co

counsel., The Ferguson Firm, PLLC v. Teller & Associates, 

2013 WL 6865540 at *1, No. 68329-2-I (2013) (linked to the 

instant case in Division One). She eventually added a co

counsel, Teller, based upon his promise to fmance the three 

experts who would be needed to litigate the employment 
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clients' case to trial or achieve their settlement goals. CP 116-

117. 

(2) On April 28, 2011, The Ferguson Firm and the 

Teller firm reached a settlement agreement in the underlying 

employment matter. Order Granting the Ferguson Firm's 

Motion to Set Aside Waid Attorney's Lien, and Ordering 

Disbursement of Funds ("Order f'), Appendix page A-2, CP 

416; CP 118. 

(3) The attorneys' fees portion of the settlement funds 

($530,107.58) was deposited into the Court Registry. Order I, 

Appendix page A-2, CP 416; CP 118. 

(4) On May 4, 2011, Ms. Ferguson retained Brian 

Waid for representation in the fee dispute with Teller. Order I, 

Appendix page A-2, CP 416; CP118. Although Teller agreed 

that The Ferguson Firm was entitled to half of the attorney's' 

fees ($265,053.79), Waid failed to obtain a disbursement ofMs. 

Ferguson's funds to her, or a judgment in her favor, at any time 

during his representation of her in the Teller-Ferguson lawsuit. 

CP 118, 121, 122-124; Order I, CP 416-417. This failure 

harmed Ms. Ferguson. CP123-124. 

(5) On May 27, 2011, Ms. Ferguson filed a Complaint 

seeking a Declaratory Judgment that there was no enforceable 

contract with Teller, and arguing that the Court should divide 
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the fees based on a theory of quantum meruit, 90% to Ms. 

Ferguson and 10% to Teller. Order /, Appendix page A-2, CP 

416. Teller argued the existence of an express contract to 

divide the fees 50:50. Ibid. On January 30, 2012, the Superior 

Court entered an order which rejected Ferguson's argument and 

found the existence of a 50:50 contract. Ibid; CP 19-25. This 

order is the subject of the opinion in The Ferguson Firm v. 

Teller, supra, 2013 WL 6865540, No. 68329-2-1 (2013). We 

have petitioned this Court for review in that linked case. 

(8) On February 13, 2012, Waid withdrew as Ms. 

Ferguson's attorney. Order I, Appendix page A-2, CP 416. 

This was done on one day's notice. CP 123. 

(9) The following day Waid filed what he styled as a 

"lien" for his attorney's fees in the amount of $78,350.85. 

Order I, Appen~ page A-2, CP 416; CP 123. 

(10) Ms. Ferguson moved to set aside the "lien" on the 

grounds that the lien was invalid under RCW 60.40.010(1)(c), 

(d), and (e). Order I, Appendix page A-2, CP 416; CP 106-114. 

(11) The Superior Court granted the motion. The Court 

invalidated the lien and ordered the Clerk of Court to disburse 

the $78,350.85 in the Registry to the Ferguson Firm, together 

with interest accrued on that amount. Order I, Appendix pages 

A-1 to A-3, CP 415-418. 
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(12) In its order, the Superior Court made the following 

findings, all of which are based on substantial and/or 

undisputed evidence: 

(a) The funds are currently in the Court's 

registry, not in the "hands of an adverse party." RCW 

60.40.010(1)(c) does not apply. Order I, Appendix A-2, CP 

416. 

(b) "The $530,107.58 in attorneys' fees do not 

represent 'proceeds' received by Ferguson after arbitration or 

mediation due to services performed by Mr. Waid. RCW 

60.40.010(1)(d). The funds were earned by Teller and 

Ferguson well before Mr. Waid was retained." Order I, 

Appendix page A-2, A-3, CP 416-417 (emphasis added); CP 

123-124. 

(c) "The funds that are currently in dispute 

were not obtained by a Judgment' on behalf of Ferguson 

against Teller. RCW 60.40.010(l)(e); Wilson v. Henkle, 45 

Wn.App 162, 170, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986). Teller, the adverse 

party, consistently maintained that Ferguson was entitled to half 

of the attorneys' fees that were generated in the Underlying 

Matter. Ferguson retained Mr. Waid in her unsuccessful effort 

to obtain 90% of the fees." Order I, Appendix page A-3, CP 

417(emphasis added). 
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(13) Pursuant to the trial court's order, the Clerk 

disbursed the funds to the Ferguson Firm, on or about August 3, 

2012. CP 393; Order Denying Waid Motion to Stay 

Disbursement of Funds in the· Court Registry Pending Appeal 

("Order II"), Appendix pages B-1, B-2, CP 411. 

(14} On August 22, 2012, 19 days after the 

disbursement of the funds, Waid filed a motion to stay 

disbursement of funds from the Court Registry pending appeal. 

CP 345. 

(15) The Superior Court properly found that Waid's 

motion was moot. Order II, Appendix page B-2, CP 411. The 

stay motion was denied. Ibid. Waid appealed. 

(16} Waid did not assign error to the denial of his stay 

motion. As a result, the order denying the stay as moot (Order 

II) and the disbursement of the funds to the Ferguson Firm 

stand. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. Order I is not appealable as of right (Issue 

Four). The order setting aside the "attorney's lien" is not 

7 



appealable as of right under RAP 2.2(a)(3), because it is 

procedural and does not "prevent a final judgment" or 

"discontinue the action". 

The decision of the Division One panel is in conflict with 

the common sense meaning of Rule 2.2(a)(3) of the Rules of 

Appellate Procedure. No authoritative decision of this Court 

appears to address or decide the issue presented here. Review 

should be granted under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

RAP 2.2(a) defines the decisions of the Superior Court 

which may be appealed as of right by a non-governmental 

party. The Superior Court's Order I, setting aside the 

"attorney's lien" and for disbursement of funds, does not fall 

within RAP 2.2(a). 

RAP 2.2 (a)(3), captioned "Decision Determining 

Action" requires a written decision ''that in effect determines 

the action and prevents a final judgment or discontinues the 

action." (Emphasis added). "Action" means "lawsuit". Here, 

the action was between The Ferguson Firm and the Teller Firm. 

The Superior Court's decision, Order I, did not "determine" the 

Ferguson v. Teller action. It did not "prevent a final 

judgment" or "discontinue" the Ferguson v. Teller lawsuit. 
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The Fergus~m Firm contends that Waid owes it money. 

Waid claims that The Ferguson Firm owes him money. Neither 

claim has been tried or adjudicated in any court. All the 

Superior Court Order I did was to correctly conclude that what 

Waid styled as a "lien" did not fit under the attorney's lien 

statute.3 Order I does not preclude W aid from litigating 

whether The Ferguson Firm owes him money, or vice versa, in 

a future proceeding. 4 Order I is not a final order-instead, it is 

procedural. 

Waid is not a party to the Ferguson v. Teller lawsuit. 

There is no "action" pertaining to him. The Superior Court did 

not prevent W aid from filing a lawsuit in which he and the 

Ferguson firm can litigate their claims against each other. The 

3 Order I, CP 416-417. 

4 "We note that the legislature has not left an attorney 
remediless in collecting fees after the attorney-client 
relationship has been terminated. He has, among other remedies 
afforded general creditors, the ability to reduce. his fees to 
judgment and thus subject his client's real property to a 
judgment lien pursuant to RCW 4.56. If additional measures are 
necessary, the attorney may post a bond and proceed with a writ 
of attachment pursuant to RCW 7.12." Ross v. Scannell, 97 
Wash.2d 598,605-606,647 P.2d 1004 (1982) 
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Court's order invalidating the "lien" did not "determine" any 

claim by Waid or the Ferguson Firm. The order did not 

"prevent a final judgment" by anyone, including Waid. It did 

not "discontinue" any "action" between Waid and The 

Ferguson Firm. Waid remains able to pursue any valid claim 

he might have in the appropriate forum. Ross v. Scannell, 

supra. 

We paraphrase Division One in another case: 

Here, the [order] entered by the trial court in 
no way affects any of [Waid's] rights. It does not 
order [Waid] to do anything. It does not order 
[Waid] to pay anything. It does not order [Waid] to 
refrain from doing or paying anything. At the time 
[the order] was entered, [Waid] was not a party to 
this lawsuit. [Waid's] interests were in no way 
affected by the judgment from which [he] now 
seeks to appeal. 

Polygon· NW Co. v. American Nat'/ Fire Ins. Co., 143 

Wash.App 753, 768, 770, 189 P.3d 777 (2008)(dismissing 

appeal)(paraphrase words in brackets). 

10 



The same reasomng applies here. The Court's 

interlocutory order, Order I, is not appealable under RAP 

2.2(a)(3). 5 

2. Order ll is not appealable as of right (Issue 

Five).· The order denying Waid's motion to stay disbursement 

of funds due to mootness is not appealable as of right under 

RAP 2.2(a)(3), because: (a) the funds had already been 

disbursed, (b) no "action" was determined, and (c) no fmal 

judgment was prevented. 

5 The cases cited by Division One (Waid v. The Ferguson 
Firm, 316 P.3d at 512, ~12) are distinguishable. They involve 
the appealability of sanctions orders directed against the 
attorney. See, e.g., In re Guardianship of Lasky, 54 Wash.App. 
841, 848- 850, 776 P.2d 695 (1989) (attorney could appeal 
sanctions order against him but could not appeal order 
removing him as, guardian and dismissing action he filed); 
Breda v. B.P.O. Elks Lake City 1800 S0-620, 120 Wash.App 
351, 353, 90 P.3d 1079 (2004) (attorney can appeal sanctions 
order against him); Splash Design, Inc. v. Lee, 104 Wash.App. 
38, 44, 14 P.3d 879 (2000) (attorney can appeal sanctions 
imposed directly against him). 

W aid could have sought discretionary review of the 
order. RAP 2.3; Polygon, 143 Wash.App at 769. 
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The decision of the Division One panel-that a mootness 

order is appealable as of right--is in conflict with the common 

sense meaning of Rule 2.2(a)(3) of the Rules of Appellate 

Procedure. No authoritative decision of this Court appears to 

address or decide the issue presented here. Review should be 

granted under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ): 

In Order II; the Superior Court determined that Waid' s 

motion to stay disbursement of funds-funds which had already 

been disbursed by the Clerk pursuant to the Court's Order l--is 

moot. Order II, Appendix page B-2, CP 411, ,3. The Superior 

Court is correct. See, e.g., Clark County v. W. Wash. Growth 

Mgmt. Hearings Review Bd., 177 Wash.2d 136, 148-149, 298 

P.3d 704 (2013)(Stephens, J., concurring) 

Division One acknowledged that the trial court did not 

err in holding the motion moot. Waid v. The Fergu~on Firm, 

316 P.3d at 513, fu 4. The motion was untimely. Ibid. No 

"action" was "determined" by the mootness finding. Order IT 

did not "prevent a final judgment". It did not "discontinue" any 

"action". The Superior Court's order denying the stay motion 

as moot does not fall within RAP 2.2(a)(3). Waid has no 

appeal as of right from Order II. 

12 



3. The Orders Should Be Affirmed Because Waid 

Does Not Challenge The Disbursement On Appeal assue 

Six). 

The Superior Court directed the Clerk to disburse the 

funds to the Ferguson Firm because the Court invalidated 

Waid' s "lien". Order I, CP 415-417. Waid failed to seek a stay 

of the disbursement order until 19 days after the funds had been 

disbursed. Order II, Appendix page B-2, CP 411; CP 345. 

RAP 8.1(b) provides in pertinent part: "A trial court 

decision may be enforced pending review unless stayed 

pursuant to the provisions of this rule." (Emphasis added). 

Here, the trial court's disbursement decision was properly 

enforced. Waid did not obtain (or even timely seek) a stay as 

required by RAP 8.1(b). 

Waid fails in this appeal to assign error to the denial of 

his stay motion. See Appellant's Amended Brief, pp. 2-3. As a 

result, the order and the disbursement of the funds to the 

Ferguson Firm stand. See Clark County v. W. Wash. Growth 

Mgmt. Hearings Review Bd., 177 Wash.2d 136, 143-147, 298 

P.3d 704 (2013)(prohibiting review of separate and distinct 

claims not raised on appeal); State v. Sims, 171 Wash.2d 436, 

441-42, 256 P.3d 285 (2011) ("[A]n appellant is deemed to 

13 



have waived any issues that are not raised as assignments of 

error and argued by brief'); Tellevik v. Real Property Known 

as 31641 West Rutherford Street, 120 Wash.2d 68, 92, 838 

P.2d111 (1992) (issue not raised in assignments of error not 

considered on appeal). The principle of res judicata applies. 

See Johnson v. Johnson, 53 Wash.2d 107, 113-14, 330 P.2d 

1075 (1958), cited in Clark County, 177 Wash.2d at 145. The 

decision of the Division One panel should be vacated. Clark 

County, 177 Wash.2d at 148. 

Division One's decision is in conflict with decisions of 

the Supreme Court. 6 Review should be granted under RAP 

13.4(b)(1). 

4. The funds in the registry are not "proceeds" under 

the attorney lien statute (Issues One, Two and Three). The 

term "proceeds" in RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) and (5) refers only to 

a monetary sum received from the same action that the attorney 

6 This issue was briefed by The Ferguson Firm in the 
Court of Appeals. See Respondent's Brief, pp. 17-18. The 
opinion by the panel does not appear to address it. 

14 



actually represented the client in, rather than to other funds Ms. 

Ferguson earned herself in a prior matter, without the attorney's 

representation. 

The decision of the Division One panel is in conflict with 

the common sense meaning of RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) and (5). 

It conflicts with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals. It is 

bad policy. No authoritative decision of this Court appears to 

address or decide the issue presented here. Review should be 

granted under RAP 13.4(b )(2) and( 4). 

The statute provides in pertinent part as follows: 

RCW 60.40.010--Lien created--
Enforcement---Definition---Exception. An 
attorney has a lien for his or her 
compensation, whether specially agreed upon 
or implied, as hereinafter provided: 

(a) Upon the papers ofthe client, which 
have come into the attorney's possession in the 
court of his or her professional employment; 

(b) Upon the money in the attorney's 
hands belonging to the client; 

(c) Upon money in the hands of an 
adverse party in an action or proceeding, in 
which the attorney was employed, from the time 
of giving notice of the lien to that party; 

15 



(d) Upon an action ... and its proceeds 
after the commencement thereof to the extent of 
the value of any services performed by the 
attorney in the action, or if the services were 
rendered under a special agreement, for the sum 
due under such agreement; and 

(e) Upon a judgment to the extent of the 
value of any services performed by the attorney 
in the action, or if the services were rendered 
under a special agreement, for the sum due 
under such agreement, from the time of filing 
the notice of such lien or claim with the clerk of 
the court in which such judgment was rendered, 
and an entry made in the execution docket, 
showing name of claimant, amount claimed and 
date of filing notice. 

(2) ... (3} ... (4) ... 

( 5) For the purposes of this section, ''proceeds" 
means any monetary sum received in the action. ... 

[Emphasis added] 

The plain language in RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) says an 

attorney can have a lien "[u]pon an action ... and its proceeds ... 

after the commencement thereof to the extent of the value of any 

16 



services peiformed by the attorney in the action."1 (Emphasis 

added). There are two key elements. First, the attorney must 

perform his or her services "in the action". Second, that same 

action must result in proceeds-"any monetary sum received in 

the action". RCW 60.40.010(5) (emphasis added). 

The Superior Court properly found that Ms. Ferguson did 

not receive any proceeds due to any services performed by 

Waid. Order I, Appendix page A-2, CP 416. The Court also 

properly found that"[t]he funds were earned by Teller and 

Ferguson well before Mr. Waid was retained" Order I, 

Appendix pages A-2, A-3,CP 416-417. (Emphasis added). 

The Superior Court's findings are supported by 

substantial--indeed undisputed-evidence. The Division One 

panel acknowledges that the funds were received by Sandra 

Ferguson "from working on the underlying matter". Waid v. 

The Ferguson Firm, 316 P.3d at 513. Since no proceeds were 

received by The Ferguson Firm through Waid' s services in 

Teller v. Ferguson, Waid's "lien" is not authorized by RCW 

7 The "to the extent of the value of any services peiformed 
by the attorney in the action" language is repeated in subsection 
(l)(e). 
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60.40.010(1Xd) or RCW 60.40.010(5). Compare In re 

Trustee's Sale of the Real Property of Jack Whitmire, 134 

Wash.App. 440, 447, 140 P.3d 618 (2006) (RCW 

60.40.010{l)(c) does not entitle attorney to funds derived from 

foreclosure action in which he did not represent client). 

The Division One panel in effect says any money that 

comes into the hands of a client in any action can be the target 

of an attorney's lien, even where, as here, the attorney did not 

represent the client in the action. This interpretation is 

incorrect. It does not give effect to the language in subsections 

(1)(d) and (1)(e) requiring that the attorney "perform services in 

the action" which generates the proceeds. 8 

8 The panel says our position on appeal was that the 
attorney must obtain a judgment in Ms. Ferguson's favor. Waid 
v. The Ferguson Firm, 316 P.3d at 513-514. In fact, we argued 

- several statute-based issues. First, we argued that Ms. Ferguson 
did not receive proceeds through Waid's services, and that no 
lien could lie under subsection (1)(d) of the statute. Second, we 
pointed out that a judgment is required by subsection (1)(e), and 
that Waid did not obtain a judgment. The Superior Court 
agreed with us on both counts. 

18 



This Court and the Court of Appeals have held that "[t]he 

attorney's lien statute is in derogation of the common law and 

must be strictly construed." Wilson v. Henkle, 45 Wash.App. 

162, 170, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986), citing Ross v. Scannell, 97 

Wash.2d 598, 604-05, 647 P.2d 1004 (1982). The Division 

One panel decision conflicts with this. Its overbroad 

interpretation conflicts with the statutory language. It is bad 

policy. The Legislature did not intend for lawyers to file liens 

against funds in unrelated matters where they did not represent 

the client.9 

This Court should hold that the attorney lien statute, 

RCW 60.40.010, prohibits an attorney from using an 

"attorney's lien" to take money from a client where the attorney 

did not represent the client in the action and did not provide 

9 RCW 60.40.010 was amended in 2004. The Legislature 
stated: "The purpose of this act is to end double taxation of 
attorneys' fees obtained through judgments and settlements, 
whether paid by the client from the recovery or by the 
defendant pursuant to a statute or a contract." Laws of 2004, 
chapter 73, § 1. This language reinforces the Superior Court's 
conclusion that the W aid attorney lien is not valid because the 
funds were earned by Ms. Ferguson "well before Mr. Waid was 
retained." Order I, Appendix pages A-2, A-3, CP 416-417. 
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services which resulted in proceeds. RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) and 

(5). 

F. CONCLUSION. 

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review, 

reverse the Court of Appeals, and affirm the trial court. 

This appeal is linked to The Ferguson Firm, PLLC, v 

Teller and Associates, Court of Appeals No. 68329-2-1, petition 

for review filed March 21, 2014. Respondent/petitioner urges 

the Court to grant review in that matter as well, and to link the 

two appeals for consideration.