RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 23, 2014, 3:28 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 901406

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Court of Appeals Cause No. 69220-8-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE FERGUSON FIRM, PLLC,

Petitioner,

VS.

TELLER & ASSOCIATES, PLLC,

Other Party,

and

BRIAN J. WAID, d/b/a LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID,

Respondent.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT BRIAN J. WAID D/B/A LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Emmelyn Hart, WSBA #28820 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 2101 Fourth Ave., Suite 700 Seattle, WA 98121 206-436-2020

Attorneys for Respondent Attorney Lien Claimant Brian J. Waid d/b/a Law Office of Brian J. Waid

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court's review of an intermediate appellate court's decision terminating review is discretionary. RAP 13.3. This Court will grant a petition for review only if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision from this Court or with another decision of the Court of Appeals or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2), (4).

Ferguson pays scant attention to the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Its attempt to create a conflict where none exists is unavailing. Far from being in conflict with prior decisions addressing the attorney lien statute, the Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with them. Nor can Ferguson claim this case represents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. This is a fact-specific

case inapplicable to the general citizenry of Washington. Ferguson's tortured interpretation of RCW 60.40.010 does not merit review.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision does not threaten the public interest

Ferguson first asserts, with little analysis, that a substantial public interest will be served if this Court accepts review because the Court of Appeals' decision to reinstate his lien conflicts with the "common sense meaning of RAP 2.2(a)(3)" and "no authoritative decision of this Court appears to address or decide the issue presented here." Pet. at 8, 12. Ferguson is mistaken. The Court of Appeals' decision does not implicate a substantial public interest meriting further review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The criteria generally considered to determine if an issue is of substantial public interest "are the public or private nature of the question presented, the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and the likelihood of future recurrence of the question." *Sorenson v. City of Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). Rather than address these factors, however, Ferguson squanders its time duplicating the arguments raised in its motion to dismiss Waid's appeal and in its briefing on the merits. Pet. at 7-11. The Court of Appeals properly rejected those arguments.

Ferguson argues the Court of Appeals should have dismissed Waid's appeal because the order invalidating his lien was not appealable as of right. Pet. at 7-8. Smith v. Moran, Windes & Wong, PLLC, 145 Wn. App. 459, 187 P.3d 275 (2008), review denied. 165 Wn.2d 1032 (2009) is dispositive. In Smith, a law firm asserted a \$750,000 attorney's lien against settlement proceeds recovered in the client's underlying legal malpractice case against another law firm. The client's creditors moved to invalidate the lien and the trial court dismissed it. The law firm appealed the order invalidating the lien. Id. at 463. But see State v. Superior Court for King County, 89 Wash. 342, 344-45, 154 P. 603 (1916) (holding order overruling motion to strike attorney's lien on the ground that motion was made at improper time, but which did not pass on validity of lien or right of attorneys to file it, was not appealable where order did not affect a substantial right). The Court of Appeals reversed the order dismissing the lien and remanded the case to determine what amount, if any, the law firm was entitled to assert.

Here, the order setting aside Waid's attorney lien was a final order that entitled him to immediate review under RAP 2.2(a)(1) because it disposed of all the issues in the case between he and

Ferguson.² Furthermore, the lien had "super priority" over all other liens and attached automatically. *Smith*, 145 Wn. App. at 467 (citing RCW 60.40.010(3)). The order also terminated the action and entitled Waid to immediate review under RAP 2.2(a)(3) because it set aside the lien he filed to protect his financial interests. The order had a financial impact sufficiently fundamental to warrant immediate review. *Id.* at 463.

Ferguson next argues Waid's appeal should have been dismissed because he was not a party to the lawsuit between it and Teller. Pet. at 9. Ferguson fundamentally misunderstands who qualifies under RAP 3.1³ as an aggrieved party entitled to appeal. Even though Waid and Ferguson were not directly adverse to one another in the instant action, Waid had standing to challenge the trial court's decisions because they directly and substantially impacted his pecuniary, proprietary, and personal rights. *State ex rel. Simeon v. Superior Court*, 20 Wn.2d 88, 90, 145 P.2d 1017 (1944) (noting an "aggrieved party" is one whose personal rights or pecuniary interests have been affected). *See also, Breda v. B.P.O. Elks Lake City 1800*

² But even if Waid mischaracterized his notice and the orders from which he appealed were non-appealable as of right, the Court of Appeals could treat his notice of appeal as a notice for discretionary review and permit review. RAP 5.1(c).

³ RAP 3.1 states: "Only an aggrieved party may seek review by the appellate court."

SO-620, 120 Wn. App. 351, 353, 90 P.3d 1079 (2004) (noting sanctioned attorney, rather than clients, was the "aggrieved party" for purposes of appealing sanctions imposed directly against him).

Here, Waid qualified as an aggrieved party under RAP 3.1. He represented Ferguson in its lawsuit against Teller and incurred substantial attorney fees and costs to do so. When Ferguson failed to pay him pursuant to the terms of their written contract, he filed an attorney's lien as the contract between them permitted. Despite the language in the contract permitting the lien, the trial court dismissed it.

Ferguson next argues the Court of Appeals should have dismissed Waid's appeal of the trial court order denying his motion for stay and approval of a supersedeas bond because it had already withdrawn the funds representing his attorney's lien from the court registry. Pet. at 11-12. Waid's appeal from that order was not moot. Based on Ferguson's statements to the court during oral argument and its own calculations, funds remain on deposit in the court registry. Furthermore, Ferguson could have recovered additional money from Teller to which Waid's lien would have attached had Ferguson

prevailed in its appeal against Teller. Finally, the trial court can order re-deposit of the withdrawn funds on remand. RAP 12.8.4

Ferguson's pleas for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) should fall on deaf ears. The Court of Appeals' decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. Review is not warranted on that basis.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with other appellate decisions addressing the attorney lien statute

Ferguson also claims review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' decision is allegedly inconsistent with decisions of this Court and with decisions of another Court of Appeals. Pet. at 13-19. Ferguson fails to identify those decisions; regardless, it manufactures a conflict where none exists. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with well-established precedent addressing the attorney lien statute.

Ferguson first argues the Court of Appeals erred by failing to dismiss Waid's appeal because he did not challenge the disbursement of the disputed funds from the court registry. Pet. at 13-14. Ferguson

⁴ RAP 12.8 states, in pertinent part:

If a party has voluntarily or involuntarily partially or wholly satisfied a trial court decision which is modified by the appellate court, the trial court shall enter orders and authorize the issuance of process appropriate to restore to the party any property taken from that party, the value of the property, or in appropriate circumstances, provide restitution.

seems to suggest that an aggrieved party cannot appeal from an adverse judgment if he or she opts to pay the judgment during the appeal rather than to supersede it. The court rules are not so restrictive. *Spahi v. Hughes-Northwest, Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 763, 27 P.3d 1233 (2001). *See also, In re Sims Estate*, 39 Wn.2d 288, 297, 235 P.2d 204 (1951) (holding that an appellant is not obligated to supersede a judgment or a decree appealed from). Waid was not required to move to stay the trial court's disbursement order or to appeal the subsequent order denying the requested stay to preserve his right to challenge the underlying order invalidating his attorney's lien. RAP 2.2(a)(1). The cases upon which Ferguson relies to suggest otherwise are inapposite. Pet. at 13-14.

Finally, Ferguson contends the Court of Appeals erred by reinstating Waid's lien under RCW 60.40.010(1)(d)⁵ because it did not receive any "proceeds" through services he performed on its behalf to which the lien could attach. Pet. at 14-19. The Court of Appeals

(Emphasis added.)

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ RCW 60.40.010(1) provides in pertinent part that an attorney has a lien for his or her compensation:

⁽d) Upon an action, including one pursued by arbitration or mediation, and its proceeds after the commencement thereof to the extent of the value of any services performed by the attorney in the action[.]

appropriately reinstated Waid's attorney lien because "proceeds" means "any monetary sum received in the action." RCW 60.40.010(5).

Here, Ferguson received a monetary sum when the action Waid commenced against Teller concluded and the trial court disbursed a portion of the disputed funds then held in the court registry. Ferguson received those funds because of the services that Waid performed in the action he brought against Teller, including successfully defending Teller's efforts to limit Ferguson's recovery, CP 68-70, 103-05, 119, 169-70, 248-77, and dismissing Teller's counterclaim. CP 13-18, 76, 170, 175, 444. Ferguson thus received "proceeds" in an action commenced by Waid to which Waid's lien properly attached. *See generally, Price v. Chambers*, 148 Wash. 170, 172, 268 P. 143, 144 (1928) (noting that funds secured were originally held in relation to another case).

As Ferguson grudgingly admits, *Wilson v. Henkle*, 45 Wn. App. 162, 170, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986) interpreted the pre-2004 version of the attorney's lien statute. Pet. at 19 n.9. But it fails to recognize the 2004 amendments significantly changed the statute. *Smith*, 145 Wn. App. at 469 n.13. Ferguson's arguments are thus unavailing. *State v. Stribling*, 164 Wn. App. 867, 878, 267 P.3d 403 (2011) (noting

defendant's argument, and State's concession, were misplaced where they relied on the wrong version of the statute). Although this Court held in *Ross v. Scanell*, 97 Wn.2d 598,604-05,647 P.2d 1004 (1982) that an attorney's lien, as a statutory creation, is in derogation of the common law and must be strictly construed, that is no longer the case. When the Legislature amended the attorney lien statute in 2004, it unambiguously stated:

The purpose of this act is to end double taxation of attorneys' fees obtained through judgments and settlements, whether paid by the client from the recovery or by the defendant pursuant to a statute or a contract. Through this legislation, Washington law clearly recognizes that attorneys have a property interest in their clients' cases so that the attorney's fee portion of an award or settlement may be taxed only once and against the attorney who actually receives the fee. This statute should be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose.

Laws of 2004, ch.73, § 2 (emphasis added); see also, S.B. Rep. 6270, 58th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2004); Final Bill Report on ESSB 6270, 58th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2004) (discussing these policies).

Despite Ferguson's best efforts to create a conflict justifying further review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), none exists. The Court of Appeals' analyzed the controlling decisions addressing attorney liens and issued an opinion consistent with those decisions. Accordingly, the Court should deny Ferguson's petition for review.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Ferguson fails to offer any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for review by this Court. Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition for review.

DATED this day of April, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,

Emmelyn Hart, WSBA #28820

Attorneys for Respondent Attorney Lien Claimant Brian J. Waid d/b/a Law Office of Brian J. Waid